Albemarle County Planning Commission
Final Minutes Regular Meeting
December 16, 2025

The Albemarle County Planning Commission held a public meeting on Tuesday, December 16,
2025, at 4:00 p.m.

Members attending were Fred Missel, Chair; Luis Carrazana, Vice-Chair; Julian Bivins; Corey
Clayborne; Karen Firehock; Nathan Moore; Lonnie Murray.

Other officials present were Michael Barnes, Director of Planning; Cameron Langille, Principal
Planner; Rebecca Ragsdale, Planning Manager; Jenny Tevendale, Deputy County Attorney; and
Carolyn Shaffer, Clerk to the Planning Commissions.

Call to Order and Establish Quorum
Ms. Shaffer called the roll.
Mr. Missel established a quorum.

Public Hearing

ZMA202200002 Sieq Property Rezoning

Cameron Langille, Principal Planner, said that he would be presenting staff's report and
recommendation for ZMA202200002, also known as the Sieg property rezoning. He said that this
was a follow-up from a public hearing they originally held on September 9, 2025. He said that
since that time, the applicant had since revised some aspects of the proposal, which he would
elaborate on in his presentation. He said that before doing so, he just wanted to clarify that this
was the second public hearing for this item.

Mr. Langille said that he would provide some general specifics on this request. He said that the
request from the applicant was to rezone six parcels from the R-1 Residential zoning district and
the HC Highway Commercial zoning district to the Neighborhood Model District, covering a total
of 62.4 acres. He said that this rezoning would be subject to the application plan and Code of
Development, and the proposed development would be a mixed-use project with both residential
and non-residential uses. The applicant proposed to disturb 3.6 acres of Preserved Steep Slopes
Overlay District for construction purposes, which was a reduction from the original 5.1 acres
proposed in the previous application presented in September.

Mr. Langille said that to reorient everyone, the six properties in question were located at the
southwest corner of the Interstate |-64 interchange with the Route 29-Route 250 bypass, Exit 118.
He said that they were highlighted in light blue on the map and the surrounding area featured a
variety of uses, including Fontaine Research Park to the northeast, the Redfields and Sherwood
Farms neighborhoods to the south and east, Future Hedgerow Park to the west, and 1-64 to the
north, with the Ragged Mountain Reservoir nearby.

Mr. Langille said that he would summarize the key changes the applicant has made. He said that
originally, the proposal included a range of residential units, from a minimum of 100 to a maximum
of 1,200. He said that the applicant had since reduced the maximum and increased the minimum,
with a new range of 275 minimum to 600 maximum. He said that the original non-residential
square footage was 50,000 square feet, and the applicant had increased this to 100,000 square
feet, with the maximum non-residential remaining at 440,000 square feet.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 1
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Langille said that the affordable housing provisions had also been updated. He said that
originally, the applicant proposed 15% of the total units to be affordable units at 80% area median
income (AMI). He said that they had since increased this percentage to 20%, breaking it down
into two separate tiers: half at 60% AMI and the other half at 80% AMI. He said that in total, if built
out to the maximum, this would result in 120 new affordable units.

Mr. Langille said that to reiterate, the applicant had reduced the amount of disturbance proposed
for the steep slopes. He said that originally, the proposed disturbance was 220,000 square feet,
but it had been reduced to a little less than 160,000 square feet. He said that for non-residential
uses permitted, they had removed self-storage facilities from the Code of Development and added
hospitals.

Mr. Langille said that in his presentation he had included a page from the application plan, which
showed minimal changes aside from the areas of preserved slopes that were getting disturbed.
He said that the new densities were 9.6 units per acre, and he had listed the affordable housing.
He said that this proposed development would be on the Albemarle County Service Authority
(ACSA) public water and sewer system. He said that page one from Attachment 4, depicted the
application plan.

Mr. Langille said that the transportation proposal had not changed significantly. He said that there
would be two entrances, one with a full access entrance and signal at the intersection, and the
other at the north with a right-in, right-out entrance. He said that the development proposed a
multitude of pedestrian facilities, including sidewalks and shared use paths. He said that the
shared use path would cross Route 29 and continue on the east side of Route 29 for
approximately 900 feet to the north.

Mr. Langille said that he had also included the applicant's block plan and an updated table for
density regulations showed a maximum of 600 units and a minimum of 100,000 square feet of
non-residential uses. He said that he had also provided maps comparing the original disturbances
proposed to the preserved slopes and the revised proposal. He said that originally, they were
going to disturb preserved slopes to install infrastructure like new buildings, utilities, and roads.
He said that the applicant had since revised it, and a significant portion of preserved slopes would
remain undisturbed.

Mr. Langille said that they had reduced the disturbance in Areas 4, 5 and 7. He said that the green
area between Area 2 and Area 3 had widened slightly; overall, this came down to a 60,000 square
foot reduction. He said that the staff's recommendation for this request was to recommend
approval because the positive aspects outweighed the concerns. He said that the positive aspects
included that the development was consistent with the land use and density recommendations
from the Southern and Western Urban Neighborhoods Master Plan.

Mr. Langille said that it also provided new transportation improvements, including transit stops,
shared use paths, and an upgrade to the existing park and ride lot located at Teel Lane on Route
29. He said that it also included 20% of affordable housing, meeting the County's housing policy.
He said that one concern remained, which they had initially noted in the September version,
regarding the potential impact on local schools. He said that specifically, Red Hill Elementary and
Monticello High School were currently over capacity and projected to remain so in future years,
and this development would certainly have an impact on the overcrowding.

Mr. Langille said that however, the impact had been reduced by half, from 108 elementary
students and 96 high school students down to 54 and 48, respectively, assuming the development
reached its maximum density.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 2
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Ms. Firehock said that she understood the right-in, right-out entrance to the development. She
asked if they would then need to make a U-turn. She asked how the U-turn would not cause new
problems.

Mr. Langille said that the northern entrance to the site was where the right-in, right-out entrance
would be. He said that the signalized intersection would be at the southern entrance.

Ms. Firehock asked if people would stop at the light to make the U-turn.
Michael Barnes, Director of Planning, said that yes, that was correct.
Ms. Firehock asked if the currently existing signal was in this area.

Mr. Langille said that it was not shown on this map, but he had another image in the presentation
that showed that.

Ms. Firehock asked if the Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) had reviewed the
distance between those two signalized intersections on the highway.

Mr. Langille said that yes, VDOT had reviewed this and did not note any concerns about the
separation distance between this proposed intersection and the existing one. He said that he did
not think the map he had was entirely accurate, as it did not reflect the conditions since the project
was completed to address this interchange issue. He said that nevertheless, the light timing
appeared to be generally acceptable here.

She said that she visited that location regularly, so she was familiar with traffic patterns.

Mr. Carrazana asked if Mr. Langille could walk them through the affordable housing
recommendations and align them with their existing policies and guidelines.

Mr. Langille said that 20% of the total units they proposed would be affordable housing units, with
half of those at 60% area median income and the other 10% would be at 80% area median
income. He said that this effectively proposed a hybrid version of their current housing affordability
model policy, similar to previous versions prior to the adoption of the Housing Albemarle policy.
He said that the proposed affordability period for these units was 10 years, which, if consistent
with the current Housing Albemarle policy, would result in 20% of the units being at 60% AMI.

Mr. Langille said that there were different affordability periods that must be maintained, whether
for rental or sale. He said that Dr. Pethia provided a written assessment from the Housing Office,
stating that this proposal would provide affordable units consistent with their policy. He said that
it was also worth reminding the Commission that, based on the date the application was
submitted, the requirement to provide 20% affordable units was not yet in effect, as this was
submitted in 2022 and was therefore under the old Housing Policy in place at the time.

Mr. Carrazana said that he was having difficulty understanding how this was consistent. He asked
if the rationale was that this was consistent because, in this case, they were falling into the older

policy.
Mr. Langille said that it was both; they met the 20% requirement of the new policy.
Mr. Carrazana said that they had modified it at the AMI, but not all the way.

Mr. Murray said that one of the concerns they had previously was the connectivity on the opposite
side of the project. He said that he had been made aware of the upcoming expiration of the

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 3
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Redfields proffer. He asked if staff could provide an update on this matter to ensure that they did
not lose the connectivity.

Mr. Barnes said that they carefully examined that, and there were actually two proffers in this
area. He said that one was for the potential to extend the road at some point in the future to
connect to Route 29. He said that the second proffer was for a trail that aimed to utilize an existing
culvert beneath the railroad, but it was not intended to connect directly to Redfield. He said that
instead, the trail would follow the rail line and creek to reach 1-64, then cross under the highway
to reach the Granger property.

Mr. Barnes said that this greenway trail easement was established in 2001, following the rezoning
of the area. He said that staff had assessed the feasibility of creating a connection on that side of
the bridge, beneath the portion of the bridge. He said that however, the presence of extensive
riprap to stabilize the slope made it a challenging task to place a trail. He said that further
investigation revealed that there were four spans under the bridge, with the westernmost one
being empty. He said that the first three spans were either the slope, creek, or railroad, while the
fourth span was simply dirt, making it the most accessible.

Mr. Barnes said that therefore, staff believed the best connections could be made along the
western side of the rail line, connecting to the back of the Forestry Department, rather than
attempting to cross the riprap slope adjacent to Redfields. He said that they had consulted with
VDOT, and they concurred that attempting to cross the riprap slope was not feasible.

Mr. Murray said that he appreciated that update. He said that his second question pertained to
parking access. He said that as part of this proposal, an entrance to Hedgerow Park was being
proffered. He said that however, they had experienced issues in the past, particularly with Preddy
Creek and Biscuit Run, where the moment access was provided, people immediately began
building their own trails and accessing the area without proper planning. He said that in this case,
there were G1 habitats, which were critically imperiled sites, that could be destroyed quickly if
unregulated access was allowed.

Mr. Murray said that he was concerned that without a plan in place to protect these sites, they
could be irreparably harmed. He said that he would like to know what the County's plan was if this
proposal moved forward, and how access would be limited to ensure the protection of these
critical habitats.

Mr. Langille said that he believed there were specifications in the Code of Development regarding
the timing requirements for when a trailhead with up to five parking spaces was developed, which
would presumably serve as an entrance to Hedgerow Park in the future. He said that to ensure
compliance, they would work with Parks and Recreation at the site plan or subdivision plat stage
to implement measures to restrict access, such as physical gates, fencing, signage, and other
controls.

Mr. Langille that he had spoken with their Parks and Recreation staff, who were aware of the
proposed trailhead and the distance to Hedgerow Park. He said that as a result, this was a
consideration that everyone was keeping in mind as the process moved forward.

Mr. Murray said that he wanted to raise the issue, as it was a concern that warranted attention.
He said that there had been a poor history in the past with several other parks, where people had
accessed them in advance and caused damage.

Mr. Bivins said that he believed there was a group of owners who had talked about this previously,
but he would like to know what was going on with the property to the south of this development.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 4
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Barnes said that he believed Mr. Bivins was referring to the Sweet Spot LLC property.

Ms. Firehock asked if Mr. Bivins was inquiring about the outcome of the request to amend the
Comprehensive Plan.

Mr. Bivins said that yes, he was wondering what the outcome of that request had been.

Mr. Barnes said that when they were considering adoption of the Comprehensive Plan, that parcel
had been zoned as industrial. He said that during the Board's meeting, they approved a change
that designated it as a mixed-use parcel.

Mr. Bivins said that he appreciated the clarification. He said that his other questions were for the
applicant.

Mr. Moore said that he had a question regarding affordable housing and the policy that this
application fell under. He said that specifically, he was wondering about the old policy, which was
for 15% of units to be affordable at 80% AMI. He asked what the term of affordability was under
the old policy.

Mr. Langille said that he believed it was 10 years.

Mr. Moore said that he was also wondering if there was a requirement that for-sale units to remain
affordable, or if there was a mechanism in place, such as a cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) rate,
that would ensure the units remained affordable if they were resold after the initial affordable sale.

Mr. Langille said that he would need to verify the details of the old policy, but he believed there
was a component that addressed that.

Mr. Moore said that he asked this because this proposal indicated that only providing the first for-
sale unit was considered fulfilling the affordable requirement. He said that it appeared that the
property then transitioned to market rate after that. He said that he was not certain if this was the
current policy.

Mr. Missel asked for confirmation that August 18, 2022, was the only community meeting held for
this proposal.

Mr. Langille said that that was correct.

Mr. Barnes said that staff had made a determination that the application was not significantly
different. He said that in fact, it was slightly smaller, but the entrances and other features were
largely in line with the original design, so they decided a second community meeting was not
necessary.

Ms. Firehock asked if the addition of the hospital use was meant to encompass traditional hospital
buildings or if they were referring to smaller outpatient clinics.

Mr. Langille said that he believed the reason it was added was that the office space could be used
for a medical purpose, which was consistent with this land use designation.

Ms. Firehock said that it would be extreme for a hospital to be located within the development.

Mr. Missel asked if that use did not fit under the general commercial category and required special
consideration for hospital use.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 5
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Langille said that hospital use was specifically listed as a designated use type in the
Ordinance, so yes.

Mr. Murray said that a pharmacy or laboratory would be an appropriate use.
Mr. Missel opened the public hearing. He asked if the applicant had a presentation.

Ashley Davies, Riverbend Development, said that she was joined tonight by Alan Taylor, Scott
Collins, and Carl Hultgren, who worked on their traffic impact analysis and updated counts. She
said that she was glad to be back. She said that she first would like to discuss the unique aspects
of this site and its great location. She said that a few months ago, they had spent a significant
amount of time discussing the site and learning from the Commission's thoughts and concerns.

Ms. Davies said that she hoped that tonight's presentation accurately reflected the updates they
had made. She said that what she found particularly interesting about this site was that, despite
its challenges, it also presented a tremendous opportunity. She said that with its 62 acres,
proximity to the City, and location on busy roadways, it was an ideal spot for a mixed-use
development. She said that this parcel was in the Samuel Miller District, which was the largest
district in the County, yet had the fewest housing units, the most expensive housing units, and
the least dense development, and therefore presented a unique opportunity for the County.

Ms. Davies said that this site was a great chance for the County to provide desperately needed
housing at various price points and some commercial opportunities. She said that as they had
discussed previously, the proposed self-storage use was not the best fit for this property. She
said that they agreed that it was meant for a true mixed-use opportunity, and by removing that
use, she believed the remaining options in the Code of Development were more viable and could
create a more vibrant commercial space.

Ms. Davies said that they also took another look at the residential density. She said that Ms.
Firehock had pointed out that the previous application had a wide range for the potential total
number of units, so they had cut the residential density in half. She said that they wanted to ensure
that this site could be a truly mixed-use development, so they had left ample room for commercial
opportunity. She said that they had increased the minimum commercial amount from 50,000
square feet to 100,000 square feet to ensure a good commercial base. She said that they had
also increased the affordable housing to 20% and allocated half of those units at 60% AMI and
half at 80% AMI. She said that this project was submitted under the old housing policy, but they
had updated it to move towards the 60% area median income range, which tended to have a
greater impact.

Ms. Davies said that Mr. Hultgren then updated their traffic counts on the site, as they had realized
that the traffic impact analysis (TIA), although fully approved by VDOT, was a few years old. She
said that they wanted to ensure that everything was tracking, even though they did not update the
full TIA. She said that the traffic counts confirmed the 1% growth rate, which they had
accommodated for in the old TIA, and the old document accounted for 1,200 units, so as a result,
they had reduced that number in half. She said that they had all of that covered in this update.

Ms. Davies said that they also paid particular attention to the preserved slopes, which showed a
30% reduction in those impacts, a significant improvement. She said that in addition, they were
incorporating a series of biofilters along the entrance road, closest to Moores Creek, which they
believed would be helpful. She said that they also had a slide available for discussion in the Q&A
regarding how they were bringing various utilities to the site. She said that if there were questions
about that for Mr. Collins, he could review it.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 6
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Ms. Davies said that their updated illustrative plan was provided, which gave a sense of the areas
where the residential build-out would go. She said that they could see that there were still large
commercial blocks available. She said that this should look familiar from their last conversation,
but it shows a bit more detail on how the residential might look. She said that it still included the
proposed transit stop, multi-use path, and block formations. She said that a new addition to the
submittal illustrated how undisturbed slopes could be combined with the grading next to the
roadway, along the entrance road, where they were installing biofilters.

Ms. Davies said that these were their primary changes. She said that she thought their
conversation last time was great, and they had spent a lot of time going through it. She said that
these changes brought the site to where it needed to be in terms of being a true mixed-use
opportunity for the County and also in terms of access to the Hedgerow Park. She said that this
was a bigger issue in some of their previous submittals, particularly with the Sweet Spot property,
which brought them up to the edge of the park. She said that they would do whatever was
necessary to keep that properly blocked off until the trails were ready for use, but there was indeed
a large private property in between the County's property and this one.

Mr. Moore said that he appreciated the summary of changes from the previous hearing, as well
as their efforts to address questions about VDOT, traffic, pedestrian crossings, and the potential
connections under the interstate. He said that he appreciated the information about the reduction
of impact on preserved slopes and the voluntary increase of affordable housing units. He said
that he would like to ask about the housing component. He said that Ms. Davies had mentioned
the prior broad range of 100 to 1,200 homes, but the revised range was now 275 to 600. He asked
why they had decreased the maximum number by such a large amount.

Ms. Davies said that upon reviewing the site and considering the feedback from their last meeting,
she believed that building up to 1,200 units would significantly impact their commercial
opportunities, unless it was very high-density housing. She said that combining this with the traffic
concerns in the area, they thought that reducing the residential units would allow for more
commercial opportunities, which in turn would create different traffic patterns during the day.

Ms. Davies said that the commercial areas often experienced traffic at different peak hours than
the residential areas, even though they still generated traffic. She said that this was beneficial in
itself. She said that realistically, if they wanted to pursue these commercial opportunities, they
should consider a lower residential number.

Mr. Moore said that he assumed that they would push for commercial development in Blocks 2,
3, and 4. He asked what their criteria was or the timeline for when they would convert those blocks
as residential if they did not find commercial tenants.

Ms. Davies said that with the rezoning as it was currently written, it did not provide the same
insurance policy that they had before with conversion to residential.

Mr. Moore asked if residential would only be in Blocks 5 and 6 in that case.

Ms. Davies said that yes, with the proposed build-out it was essentially the residential area they
had available with the rezoning. She said that they were dedicating those specific areas to
commercial opportunities on the site.

Mr. Moore said that in terms of the housing, he would like to inquire about the mix of for-sale and
rental units. He asked if the developer would continue to own any of the properties.

Ms. Davies said that she did not think they had a complete plan for that. She said that the diagram
they had provided had a healthy mix of apartment buildings and attached units, and she believed

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 7
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



the attached sections offered opportunities for sale. She said that their collaboration with the
Victorian Heights project this year had been successful, as they had been able to place eight
families into the for-sale units with the Land Trust. She said that this partnership had been
beneficial, and they hoped to continue it. She said that this experience spoke to their desire to
work with the Land Trust to ensure that the for-sale units remained in a more permanently
affordable situation.

Mr. Bivins said that on page 14 of the Code of Development, it said that there may be attached
single-family and multi-family dwellings in Blocks 2, 3, and 4. He asked for more clarity on that
point.

Ms. Davies said that yes, both unit types were provided in the illustrative diagram.

Mr. Bivins said that he believed his colleague was asking about the conversion of the commercial
blocks into residential blocks in the event of a slowing economy.

Ms. Davies said that if they could not find any commercial opportunity, then they would be back
in front of the Commission at some point in the future. She said that they were confident that they
would find a tenant.

Mr. Bivins said that page 14 listed the allowed uses. He asked why they would need to return to
the Commission.

Ms. Davies said that she was not saying that it was not an allowed use. She said that she was
saying that the density would be built out in the other side, but they were not ruling it out as a
possible use.

Mr. Moore said that to add to that, in Blocks 5 and 6, it was illustrative that there was housing in
those areas now, but the housing could be viewed as blocks with the total number they had now.

Mr. Bivins said that he was trying to get a sense of what had changed or not changed with the
traffic update.

Ms. Davies said that the traffic impact analysis remained unchanged. She said that it had been
approved by VDOT several years ago and was considered very conservative. She said that in
essence, it was a low estimate. She said that with this new submission, they had revised the
residential by half. She said that the only change was conducting new traffic counts to ensure
they had an accurate understanding of the area's traffic patterns and growth over the years. She
said that they wanted to verify their assumptions, and the TIA indicated that traffic was growing
at approximately a 1% rate annually.

Mr. Murray said that he would like to express his gratitude for the efforts on the part of the
applicant, as they had taken the Commission's input into consideration and made the necessary
adjustments. He said that he appreciated this attention to detail. He said that the Ragged
Mountains had been the subject of extensive documentation, highlighting the rich history of the
region's inhabitants and the exceptional habitats and biodiversity. He asked how they planned to
incorporate these unique qualities of the area into their development.

Ms. Davies asked Mr. Murray to repeat the question.

Mr. Murray said that there had been a significant amount of work done regarding the Ragged
Mountains, including the well-known association with Edgar Allan Poe. He said that it was also
essential to acknowledge the history of the people who lived in that area and the numerous
occurrences of rare plants and animals in the region. He said that he would like to know if the

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 8
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



applicant had given any consideration to symbolically or otherwise representing this in his
development. He said that he thought that their County had a problem with creating "Anywhere
America Spaces," and he was not implying that his vote would be influenced by Ms. Davies'
response; he was simply curious if they had given this any thought.

Ms. Davies said that she had reviewed the report on the Hedgerow property, and she found it
exciting when considering its history and the diverse plant species present. She said that although
she had not previously thought of it in relation to their property, she now saw it as a potential
future gateway to this unique resource available to the County. She said that she was open to
ideas, but she must admit she had not given it much thought before, aside from the fact that they
would be featuring a plaque for Bren-wana (a previous African-American social club) there. She
said that she was eager to hear ideas and appreciated the Commission's willingness to share
them.

Mr. Clayborne said that he believed this proposal was a significant improvement from September
and appreciated the effort. He said that one of the key concerns their constituents had expressed
was regarding pedestrians crossing Route 29. He said that the applicant had addressed this in
their summary of changes, specifically in bullet point seven. He said that he would like to request
more detail on how this would be implemented in real-life scenarios. He said that he was thinking
about the potential impact on schools, considering approximately 50 students would be generated
from this development

Mr. Clayborne said that this may mean that children would be crossing the street, so he would
like to know more about the specific measures that would be taken to ensure pedestrian safety.
He said that this could include the use of rumble strips, yellow warning signs for drivers, and other
features such as extended red lights or flashing lights at a certain distance from the intersection.
He said that by providing more granular information, they could move from aspirations to concrete
actions and guarantee that pedestrians could safely cross the street without being left in a
vulnerable position.

Ms. Davies said that they were also building a 10-foot multi-use path within the site and across
the street, which was intended to connect to Redfields and the City. She said that this path would
run through their entire site, including the entrance roadway, and also up through the site. She
said that at the light itself, it seemed a bit confusing during their last meeting, as some people
may have thought they were just installing a pedestrian crossing in the middle of the street
independently. She said that in reality, the idea was that it would be fully integrated into the
stoplight.

Ms. Davies said that when approaching the neighborhood on the 10-foot mixed-use pathway, they
would press a pedestrian button on the signal, which would activate a different signal cycle. She
said that this longer light cycle would allow pedestrians to cross Route 29 North during a red light,
fully stopped, without being stuck in the middle of the street during another traffic cycle. It was
designed specifically for pedestrians, and when not in use, it followed the typical quicker cycle for
vehicle traffic.

Mr. Clayborne said that that was helpful. He said that he was wondering if they also envisioned
any safety mechanisms, such as slower speed limits or other measures, to give people advance
notice of an upcoming pedestrian crossing on the highway. He said that the approach of installing
a crossing on a highway was a bit unconventional. He said that he was curious to know if there
were other safety precautions that they thought would be designed into this system as well.

Ms. Davies said that she believed VDOT would be examining the entire area once the new signal
was installed, considering its proximity to the other signal and the pedestrian component. She

said that as a result, she expected that many of those features would be added.
ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 9
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Barnes said that there were several factors that needed to be worked out as details became
clearer. He said that at this time, they were aware of certain conditions that VDOT had placed on
this item. He said that VDOT would like to see this path connect all the way into the Development
Area at some point in the future, but staff did not push the applicant on that during the rezoning
before they would provide the pedestrian crossing at this location. He said that staff wanted to
work with VDOT to make it a reality, especially with the proposed number of residences and the
access to Hedgerow Park. He said that the Rivanna Trails Foundation (RTF) had been trying to
make a connection along the western side of the railroad underneath the VDOT bridge down to
this area, and that would help. He said that there were a lot of details to be worked out, and he
wanted to make sure it was clear that there were challenges, but they were committed to making
this the best and safest connection possible.

Mr. Carrazana said that he was not at the last meeting where this item was presented, but he
could see the good faith effort to address the comments made during that meeting. He said that
to clarify, according to the Code of Development, it did in fact allow for residential development
on these parcels, so they would not need to return to the Commission for approval.

Ms. Davies said that yes, it was possible to build on those parcels. She said that she believed
that what this was conveying was that the residential density could be accommodated in the other
blocks, but they did not want to remove the possibility of it being there. She said that they did not
feel that was necessary.

Mr. Carrazana said that they would need to return if they were not meeting their minimum
requirements for commercial use.

Ms. Davies said absolutely.

Mr. Missel said that he had a question regarding the slope steepness reduction, specifically the
60,000 square foot reduction on critical slopes. He asked what the rationale was behind this
reduction. He asked if it was a refinement in the reengineering process.

Ms. Davies said yes.

Mr. Missel said that he had a question about the phasing of the project. He said that they may
lead with residential. He said that they may build all of the residential and leave it there, and while
at some point they had to build a minimum, it was not tied to any sort of clock. He said that they
may never build the minimum. He said that he was trying to understand the phasing and overall
plan and how each of the interconnecting blocks worked together as a cohesive development.

Ms. Davies said that hypothetically, they could lead with the multifamily development or a large
commercial development in Block 4. She said that the reality was that to get either of those
projects off the ground, they would need to invest in almost all the site's infrastructure. She said
that at that point, it became unrealistic to leave large portions of the site undeveloped due to the
significant upfront costs. She said that as a result, she believed that Block 4 and Block 5 would
come online in close concert with one another, as the infrastructure built at the top of the hill would
provide the best sites for future development.

Mr. Missel said that he would clarify his question. He said that Ms. Davies had mentioned that the
ones closest required less infrastructure, so they would build the furthest one last. He said that
there was some residential development planned in Block 6, which was closer to Route 29, and
potentially some in Block 3, as well as other non-residential uses in Block 2. He asked if it was
their intent to build the residential and commercial together. He said that he was specifically trying
to understand not only the timeline for residential development, but also when affordable housing

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 10
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



would be incorporated into the overall plan. He asked what that calculation looked like within the
overall plan.

Ms. Davies said that the affordable housing would be coming online proportionally with each site
plan, so it would not be held off until the very end. She said that they had not established specific
timelines for how and when each block would develop, primarily due to the nature of the site and
the current commercial landscape. She said that attempting to set such timelines would be overly
restrictive for the project. She said that she was trying to convey that bringing the site online was
a significant investment, amounting to millions of dollars. She said that as a result, there was no
reason to leave it undeveloped or leave anything off the table.

Mr. Missel asked if they could potentially push the affordable housing until the very end.

Ms. Davies said that if they did not do any residential development until the very end, that was
possible.

Mr. Missel said that otherwise, they would integrate it in as a percentage. He said that in the same
conversation, they had discussed multi-use path connections and signalization on Route 29 and
traffic improvements. He asked if the signalization was triggered by a specific daily vehicle trip
count, if it would be addressed later in the development process, or if it would be handled upfront.

Ms. Davies said that the signal would be installed during phase one of the development. She said
that the nuance lay in the fact that if VDOT indicated that they did not want the pedestrian crossing
until a certain time, they would have to incorporate those features later or when they gave
approval. She said that they could not have the pedestrian crossing installed and non-functional
at the same time, as that would be a liability. She said that they were committed to providing the
pedestrian crossing at the point when VDOT deemed it acceptable to do so.

Mr. Missel asked if the new traffic counts, they had received had taken into account the 1-64
interchange improvements.

Ms. Davies said yes.

Mr. Missel asked if they had engaged in any public community meetings at all since the 2022
meeting.

Ms. Davies said that no, there had been no meetings. She said that she had forwarded this
information to the neighborhood contact.

Mr. Missel asked if any members of the public wished to speak on this item.

Michael Monaco, White Hall District, said that he was the Chair of the Crozet Community Advisory
Committee (CAC). He said that he was here tonight on behalf of the Albemarle contingent of
Livable Cville, and they were requesting that the Planning Commission recommend approval for
this rezoning. He said that the County needed housing, and they needed dense, rental housing
built alongside commercial development. He said that they needed mixed-use development that
benefited both the community and the economy.

Mr. Monaco said that he believed the plan presented tonight, an improved version from
September, was a good attempt at achieving this mixed-use development. He said that he
understood the Commission, the Board, and the County Comprehensive Plan had prioritized this
type of development, so he thought this met that criteria. He said that while the application was
stronger than the initial proposal, he also thought it was a missed opportunity for a more ambitious

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 11
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



development. He said that their current housing crisis and affordability issues could be addressed
with housing solutions, while transportation problems required transportation solutions.

Mr. Monaco said that the original 1,200 homes proposed in the land use build-out analysis
appended to the Comp Plan and comprised about 9% of the development pipeline. He said that
cutting that in half would impact the eventual land use build-out analysis. He said that while this
was just one project, he worried that if they were whittling away the total number of homes in
every development during discretionary review, they would be slow rolling their addressing of the
housing crisis and end up generating sprawl! rather than solutions.

Mr. Monaco said that the Development Areas represented a promise to develop densely and well-
mixed-use development. He said that if they could not achieve this here, he did not know where
else they could do it. He said that he believed this was a good use for these parcels of land, and
he hoped the Planning Commission would keep these factors in mind as they deliberated tonight.

Lily Zhou Tredway said that she had lived on Sherwood Farm for about 12 years. She said that it
was a really good neighborhood and she welcomed development. She said that she was not
opposed to it, but she did have a concern she would like to discuss. She said that their
neighborhood had Airbnb's and was a popular destination for tourists, particularly those visiting
Charlottesville. She said that she believed tourism was essential to their County's economy.

Ms. Tredway said that to be blunt, the general thoughts on the development on Route 29 North
was that it was ugly. She said that now that they were developing the south, she hoped that they
would consider a different approach to make this area more attractive to tourists. She said that
she understood the importance of housing and was not against development, and she thought it
was a good move on the part of the developer to reduce the number of houses in the development.

Ms. Tredway said that however, she also heard that this developer, and maybe not just this one
but developers in general, had a history of reducing the units and then coming back to ask for
more. She said that they needed to prevent that from happening, because if that was the case,
then reducing density today may not mean anything. She said that she wanted to request that the
Commission prioritize making their area beautiful when they planned for future development.

Norma Deal said that she was a resident of Sherwood Farms, where she had lived for a number
of years. She said that those who lived and moved about daily in the area were well aware of the
current state of the traffic intersection. She said that she was deeply concerned about the potential
for increased traffic in that area. She said that she realized that it was not the responsibility of the
developer, but she believed the Virginia Department of Highways should take action to address
this issue.

Ms. Deal said that however, she was also concerned about the proposed crossover that would
cross Route 29 at approximately the same location. She said that she thought that this could lead
to fatalities or injuries, and it should be approached with great caution before implementation. She
said that finally, she had a question regarding the park-and-ride area adjacent to Teel Lane. She
said that she was unsure who was responsible for maintaining this area, and it had not been
mentioned.

Irfan Bhimji said that he lived in Sherwood Farms across the road. He said that he would like to
echo the comments of his neighbors. He said that, too, had operated an Airbnb and believed that
they wanted to make this County beautiful. He said that adding residential housing made sense
because of the known problem they had with housing stock. He said that he thought a lot of that
had been addressed with affordable housing and other initiatives. He said that he thought that
was great. The reduction in units for this development could help alleviate some of the traffic
concerns. He said that a previous resident had mentioned that this crossover was still problematic.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 12
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Bhimiji said that it sounded great in theory due to the proximity to town, but it was effectively
isolated. He said that it was in an area where people were not going to cross that road safely. He
said that people needed to be very conscientious when making decisions like this, as lives were
at stake. He said that he had mentioned this in the previous hearing, and he would reiterate it. He
said that this was not something that should be taken lightly. He said that the developer had
mentioned the timing of traffic being different with commercial development compared to
residential development, but that ultimately would depend on the type of commercial uses that
would be here.

Mr. Bhimji said that however, they did not know what those proposals were. He said that he
thought that was a concern, as adding one type of development in an already congested area
could lead to one-in, one-out. He said that on the way to this location, there was a major accident
on Route 250 further north, but still in a congested corridor. He said that he had to stop and put a
gentleman's car in park because his wheels were spinning. He said that this was a constant
occurrence on this road. And he thought they needed to be aware of that.

Mr. Bhimji said that he understood that the hospital addition was a broad term, but he believed it
was related to the traffic concerns. He said that with more people needing a place to go, it was a
real concern. He said that he was not being facetious; this was a genuine issue. He said that the
traffic situation had not been adequately addressed. He said that a recent VDOT survey had been
sent out, and he did not think this proposal incorporated those findings about the proposed
changes to this intersection. He said that development aside, the traffic situation had not been
adequately addressed.

Bob Horoski said that he would like to make a quick comment. He said that this proposal had
been ongoing for some time, and he believed it was moving in the right direction. He said that
they would develop, and that was that. He said that he was not strongly opposed to having a
crossing, but he thought it was a crossing to nowhere until they could actually get to the City. He
said that he believed it would be advantageous to have a trail that allowed access to the University
area and downtown, making it a wonderful thing and potentially improving tourism in the distant
future, particularly when a park was available.

Mr. Horoski said that in previous discussions, they had considered the amount of green space
and trees to preserve the rural character. He said that initially, in 2022, this was a significant
concern in earlier discussions about developing this area. He said that he would appreciate the
Commission keeping in mind what this would look like coming up and down Route 29. He asked
if it would look like Route 29 North, as Ms. Tredway had pointed out, or if it would preserve the
rural feeling. He said that he would like to reiterate the importance of addressing the issue of
lighting, as previously discussed. He said that downlighting, not spotlights, was essential to avoid
a Harris Teeter parking lot appearance. He said that preserving the rural character was crucial,
and he hoped the Commission would keep these considerations in mind.

Suzanne Fox, Samuel Miller District, said that as a lifelong resident of the Samuel Miller District,
she was very familiar with the area. She said that she would like to address a comment Mr. Bivins
had made during the September 9 meeting while discussing the lower-income Rio District. She
said that he had stated that the Samuel Miller District was the richest in terms of land in Albemarle
County, and she concurred. She said that they were land-rich due to the majority of their
landowners having owned their land for generations and understanding the value of the land.

Ms. Fox said that they had learned to use their land for its intended purpose - growing livestock,
vegetables, and fruit - rather than concrete and asphalt. She said that Mr. Missel was the Chair
of the Commission and was newly elected to represent the Samuel Miller District. She said that
she read many of the comments he had made that if elected, he would lower taxes, keep the rural

part of the County rural, and be a voice for agriculture. She said that she believed his first mission
ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 13
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



was ahead of him. She asked if he would preserve the southern end of the County and prevent
City sprawl from taking hold, if he would be a good steward of their Rural Areas and ensure that
agriculture remains strong here.

Ms. Fox said that she prayed that he would demonstrate to those who elected him that he could
walk the talk. She said that she would like to highlight a few points from the Collins Engineering
document, which proposed changes from the September meeting. She said that firstly, the
addition of a hospital facility seemed unnecessary, given that there were already emergency care
facilities within a 10-mile radius, including both UVA and Martha Jefferson. She said that to her,
this appeared to be a box to check for approval purposes.

Ms. Fox said that it was stated that residential housing would be constructed first to attract
commercial buyers, but within a 10-mile radius of this parcel, there was a proliferation of
apartment buildings in the lvy Road Corridor and the Rio Road corridor, where complexes were
being built at an alarming rate. She said that the Rio Point complex on Rio Road was currently
struggling to lease its newly built apartments. She asked why they continued to approve housing
when it remained unrented. She said that affordable housing did not justify the means.

Ms. Fox said that the highway safety concerns at the intersection of Interstate 64 and Route 29
and the Crossroads Store at Plank Road both included signage to reduce speed, yet accidents
continued to occur. She said that the intersection of Red Hill Elementary School had become a
traffic hazard, with two fatal accidents occurring within the last six months. She said that
multitudes of accidents continued to occur at Route 29 and Plank Road. She said that her point
was that traffic would increase regardless of whether this parcel was developed or not.

Ms. Fox said that until they had adequate infrastructure in place to control traffic flow and speed,
it made no sense to add to it unnecessarily. She said that finally, she would like to address the
pedestrian crossing, which was proposed to be used for the existing Hedgerow Park access. She
said that the property for Hedgerow Park would be adjacent, making it unnecessary to cross both
lanes of Route 29. She said that for individuals from 5th Street and Redfields area who wished to
access the park, a substantial amount of green space would be required before they could hike
or ride bikes to this location.

Ms. Fox said that it was essential to prepare the necessary infrastructure before proceeding with
development. She said that she would like to conclude by addressing the developer and client.
She said that she understood that they had a parcel that they saw as fit to develop, and she urged
the client to consider the current state of the community and how it operated. She said that she
appreciated Mr. Missel asking whether they had engaged with the community about this
development. She asked if there was something they could do with this parcel to make it useful.
She said that Madison County had some beautiful parks that were open year-round, as well as
soccer fields, and baseball fields. She said that she just wanted to ask that they use the land in
good faith as God was not making any more of it.

Mr. Missel asked if the applicant would like to respond to any of the public comments.

Ms. Davies said that that was exciting to hear that there was a Livable Cville chapter in the County.
She said that they had made significant progress in their efforts to provide more housing, and it
was clear that times had changed since they first started this. She said that looking at the
development area of Albemarle County and the available parcels for development, she believed
it was worth noting that finding a site like this, with nearly 63 acres available, was truly unique.
She said that she was not aware of any other parcel in the development area of County that came
close to this in terms of size.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 14
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Ms. Davies said that their proposed development was fully aligned with the Comprehensive Plan
and vision for this location, and she thought it was even more harmonious now that they had
made the adjustments since the Commission's September meeting. She said that she wanted to
express her gratitude to the staff for their time and attention to this project over the years. She
said that it had been a long journey, but she believed the project had greatly improved along the
way. She said that she appreciated all the time and attention to this and believed it would be a
great addition to Albemarle County.

Mr. Missel closed the public hearing and the matter rested with the Commission.

Ms. Firehock said that she had not yet made her decision on this item. She said that she would
like to push back on the idea that this site was connected solely by virtue of the proposed crossing.
She said that she used to drive that intersection daily, and she now only passed through it once
a week. She said that she was very familiar with it, and Samuel Miller was her district. She said
that she had played a role in some of the pushback in the amount of the Development Area that
was going to go south, and ultimately the expanded development area was not as large as initially
proposed.

Ms. Firehock said that she believed there was a huge difference between adding a pedestrian
crossing across Route 29, like the one they had created in Rio, and the proposed crossing here.
She said that even though Rio had a pedestrian underpass and crossings, it was still a challenging
and scary crossing because of how people drove down Route 29. She said that although it was
intense, it still felt like an urban area and people were more aware of their surroundings and the
likelihood of pedestrian use.

Ms. Firehock said that in contrast, this intersection was on a highway, and drivers were traveling
at high speeds. She said that she did not think that they could modify driver behavior sufficiently
to make that crossing safe. She said that even if she supported the project, she would be against
a pedestrian crossing. She said that this was a car-centric development and they should accept
that. She said that perhaps one day, people would be able to walk to Hedgerow Park without
needing a car or into the City through the trail, but they would not be able to cross Route 29 there.

Ms. Firehock said that to clarify, she was not recommending they make this area urban like Rio.
She said that she did not think the crossing makes sense and she wanted to state that. She said
that she was all about connectivity, having spent her career creating trails, but this just did not
make sense. She said that she agreed with the public that someone could lose their life if they
put a pedestrian crossing here, given the high speeds of drivers and the fact that people often ran
the lights at the existing intersection. She said that if they were to put in a pedestrian overpass,
which she understood was extremely expensive, she could support that.

Mr. Missel said that even if it was installed as an overpass, it would lead nowhere.

Mr. Murray said that one of the things he was struggling with here was that when the Development
Area boundaries were established, it appeared that this area was arbitrarily circumscribed,
excluding some of these regions and, in his opinion, it was a mistake to include the Ragged
Mountains in the first place. He said that the topography of this area was quite challenging, and
as Ms. Firehock had mentioned, it was very disconnected. He said that he generally opposed the
idea of Development Area swaps, but he thought this might be an exception.

Mr. Murray said that this area could benefit from a Development Area swap to some flatter
location. He said that he appreciated that the applicant had made significant adjustments to the
plan, and it was now more mixed-use. He said that he believed it would be helpful before
presenting this proposal to the Board of Supervisors to have illustrative examples of what it might
look like from Route 29, as this was a concern for many people.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 15
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Murray said that seeing visual representations would be beneficial. He also said that he still
had concerns about the crossing, and he would state the obvious: design speed, not speed limits,
determined what could be accommodated on that road. He said that the design speed of that road
was quite fast, and if VDOT were to attempt to make it safer for pedestrians, they would need to
reduce the design speed in that area.

Mr. Clayborne asked if Mr. Murray could provide some clarity on what that meant.

Mr. Murray said that there were a lot of ways they could reduce the design speed in the area. He
said that others were more knowledgeable about traffic expertise than he was. He said that he
did see Mr. McDermott in the audience, and perhaps he could explain it better. He said that one
potential solution was to install rumble strips or other visual cues to indicate to drivers that they
needed to slow down.

Mr. Murray said that the flashing lights at the crosswalk would be helpful, and temporarily
narrowing the road width could also be an effective measure. He said that while there were other
possible solutions, he believed the primary issue lay in the design of the road itself. He said that
if a road was designed to accommodate high speeds, drivers would inevitably exceed those
speeds, regardless of the posted limit.

Mr. Clayborne said that overall, he was satisfied with the proposal's strength and intended to
support it. He said that in comparison to the September proposal, he believed this one was
significantly better. He said that it effectively addressed many of the key concerns. He said that it
seemed like they all had the same concern about the crossing on Route 29, and that was the
main concern he was grappling with. He said that it was not enough for him to recommend denial
of the application, and that was why he had asked his questions earlier.

Mr. Clayborne said that the part he was really struggling with was that people who would not be
comfortable crossing the street would just get into their cars and go to the park-and-ride. He said
that they would just hop off there and walk or ride their bike. He said that the question was whether
they discouraged crossing by providing no infrastructure, leaving it up to individuals to decide
whether to cross or not, or encourage the crossing by installing the infrastructure and accepting
there was still some risk with that.

Mr. Clayborne said that his main question was whether they should provide the infrastructure
knowing that people would cross regardless, or if they should leave it alone and encourage people
to drive across the street to the park-and-ride in order to walk. He said that overall, he thought the
proposal was strong, but he agreed with his colleagues that there was a major concern with how
people would safely get across Route 29. He said that it was not a reason to say no to the proposal
but really must be thought through by some experts in order to fully understand the risk and
exposure.

Mr. Moore said that as he mentioned in his questions to the applicant, he appreciated some of
the updates provided. He said that it appeared that since earlier this year, there had been several
adjustments and changes that he found beneficial. He said that the inclusion of more affordable
housing, the reduction of preserved steep slopes disturbance, and the addressing of questions
around VDOT were all positive developments.

Mr. Moore said that he believed that many of the concerns raised by the public, such as lights
and trees, would be addressed in the site plan, which was part of the process. He said that they
had standards in the County that would prevent the site from resembling a Harris-Teeter parking
lot. He said that he also thought it was important to note that this had always been part of the
Development Area. He said that it may look more rural now, but it had been there for 45 years,
so it seemed like changing it to a Rural Area was a bit retroactive and revisionist.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 16
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Moore said that regarding the traffic, he used to live on Overlook Drive and became familiar
with the neighborhood. He said that turning left across Route 29 was a challenge, but this proposal
could actually improve the situation by allowing drivers to turn left at a signalized intersection and
safely access Overlook and Teel. He said that he also appreciated the removal of storage units
and the addition of an urgent care facility. He said that he had no problem with those changes.

Mr. Moore said that to Mr. Murray's point, they needed to create some visual cues on Route 29
that signaled to people they were approaching the City and should be aware of more development
and different traffic patterns. He said that they should certainly communicate this to their VDOT
representatives. He said that while he supported the proposal overall, he wanted to bring up that
at the last meeting for this item, they had discussed the residential build-out analysis. He said that
they had these parcels and how they related to the need to build out densely in the Development
Area to accommodate projected growth.

Mr. Moore said that if they accepted a maximum of 600 homes in this development, he wondered
where else they would put people who were moving here. He said that they were essentially
saying they should live in Fluvanna, Greene, or Waynesboro. He said that they must start looking
at additional places that had good transportation networks like Route 29 and access to water and
sewer services, and those that did not have steep slopes. He said that if they did not start planning
how they would develop their available land, they would only ever address it in a reactionary way
when they had public hearings for rezonings.

Mr. Moore said that they should start thinking ahead, whether it was 10, 20, or 25 years from now,
to consider the possibility of establishing another Crozet type of town along Route 29, or another
type of more urban development. He said that this was something they should start considering,
as it aligned with their stated goal of planning for the future.

Mr. Bivins said that he wanted to state his support for the project. He said that however, he also
struggled with the issue that wishing did not make something so. He said that if people were
concerned about how a certain parcel would be developed, the only effective way to control that
would be to purchase the property and have power to decide what the parcel should be.

Mr. Bivins said that the neighboring developments of this parcel had about 60 or so homes in
each, undoubtedly with decent incomes. He said that if this proposal was something the neighbors
did not want in their area, they should join together and collectively purchase the portion of the
property they wished to preserve, and that way they could hold it in perpetuity. He said that he
did not want the Planning Commission to become the arbiter of things that were wished for; they
should be the Commission of things that justly considered possibilities.

Mr. Bivins said that everything that came before the Planning Commission was an exception, and
otherwise it would be by right or completed through an administrative process. He said that he
advised everyone to look at pages 15 and 16 of the Code of Development because most of the
activities were 9-to-5 activities, not 24/7 activities. He said that regarding the crossing across
Route 29, he knew from the Rio Road crossing that attempting to cross the highway at any
juncture was immensely dangerous, but the crosswalk had helped.

Mr. Bivins said that the community would need to figure out how to mitigate the major traffic issues
on Route 29, but he did not think that it was appropriate to prevent people from living in an area
that was designated as part of the Development Area because of the traffic situation. He said that
he would be supporting the proposal. He said that he would also like to ask staff to consider the
fact that the students they estimated would be generated from this residential development would
not be attending schools until 10 years from now when the development was completed, so the
current capacity of those schools was irrelevant.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 17
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Bivins said that furthermore, he did not think the school impact estimates were accurate due
to the high number of private schools and home-schooled children in their area. He said that he
would like to request that staff not use the impact to schools as a red herring when discussing the
impacts of developments. He said that these were future impacts and they had a long time to
consider what the outcome would be. He said that they needed to be more neutral in the way they
described that and not let it become a reason to deny or approve a project.

Mr. Carrazana said that he greatly appreciated Mr. Bivins' comments. He said that he would like
to discuss the possibilities of this proposal, as he had mentioned. He said that the terrain and
topography presented some challenges, but there were also buildable areas. He said that in fact,
this was one of the few areas where a multi-use development was feasible, and he believed it
had been mentioned that this was a rare opportunity. He said that they had not seen many multi-
use proposals lately, and many had been met with resistance.

Mr. Carrazana said that he thought this was a timely development, especially with the biotech
industry coming to central Virginia. He said that the presence of UVA's biotech initiatives up the
road made this site an attractive location for a multi-use development with commercial and
industrial components. He said that the site's access to major highways, including Route 29, which
needed improvement, could provide the necessary impetus for development along Route 29.

Mr. Carrazana said that while the proposal was not perfect, he believed it had potential. He said
that he encouraged the applicants to continue exploring diversity in housing types. He said that
he was glad to see a mix of housing types proposed, and he thought it was worth considering
other options, such as residential above commercial. He said that he would encourage the
applicant to think creatively about the possibilities this site could offer if developed correctly. He
said that he appreciated the changes made to the proposal, and he was glad to see such clear
improvement.

Ms. Firehock said that she had a comment to share, and she did not expect a response, but she
wanted to bring it up. She said that Virginia's transportation planning process was quite unusual,
where VDOT was aware of poorly performing intersections and had spent years studying
solutions, yet they seemed to be unable to fix the problem. She said that what was even more
puzzling was that when they applied for Smart Scale funding, they were told that their problem
needed to worsen in order to justify the assistance.

Ms. Firehock said that it appeared that they wanted them to add density to exacerbate the issue,
so the state could then provide help. She said that she did not think this was rocket science; she
believed these traffic issues could be fixed. She said that; however, by adding traffic to an already
congested area, they were making the situation worse. She said that on the other hand, this
development proposal did make efforts to minimize its impact on the site’s steep slopes. She said
that she would prefer not to develop this site, but its location meant it would help preserve the
rural character of Route 29 South.

Ms. Firehock said that if they wanted to protect the Rural Area and to reduce congestion on the
roads, they had to put people closer together. She said that the mixed-use nature of this project
had come a long way, and she was willing to support it. She said that if they returned with a
request to double the housing, she would say no. She said that what she was truly frustrated with,
after eight years on this dais, was that people kept saying they could not find suitable commercial
space, so they wanted to just do only residential or reduce the commercial component to 10%.
She said that she had heard this request to reduce commercial uses repeatedly.

Ms. Firehock said that to the developers, she urged them not to come back with a request to
reduce the commercial space. She said that she wanted to publicly acknowledge the intersection's

problems and express her opposition to a pedestrian crossing. She said that she would not
ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 18
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



suggest denying this project solely because of that, but she would recommend adding a comment
to the Commission's recommendation that they not include a pedestrian crossing. She asked her
colleagues to consider that, as she would certainly make that recommendation to her future
Supervisor.

Mr. Murray said that he believed that the issue with transportation improvements was more severe
than Ms. Firehock had stated. He said that at the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Tech
Committee, they had discussions about multiple intersections and reviewed proposals that had
been presented in the past regarding necessary improvements. He said that when considering
the cost they would be submitting for Smart Scale, it became clear that it would be uncompetitive
and the state would not fund the necessary improvements.

Mr. Murray said that as a result, proposals had been downgraded over time until they could find
a solution that was within the state's budget. He said that this was an area where this had
happened. He said that the proposals had been reduced, leaving them with what was left. He said
that he was unsure how they could address this issue, but it was a significant problem.

Mr. Moore said that the transportation issue was at the state level, so they could ask their state
delegates and senator to advocate for those changes. He said that this was the fundamental
problem. He said that the pot of money available was going more towards maintenance of existing
roads, rather than new projects that would fix larger transportation issues.

Ms. Firehock said that they needed a good regional bus system that would allow people to actually
get on the bus and into town. She said that she understood the idea of biking to town, but it did
not work here. She said that she used to work at the Department of Forestry property in this area,
and it was very steep. She said that biking up from there was not a nice cruise into town.

Mr. Bivins said that he believed the response from VDOT and the state was that their locality
could make the transportation improvements, but they needed to put more local money towards
the projects.

Ms. Firehock said that their own County could put the money in.

Mr. Bivins said that it was a hard thing to do. He said that there were options, but as a cost-sharing
model, it had become a heavier burden on the localities.

Mr. Missel said that he wanted to make it clear that he was fully supportive of maximizing density
in the Development Area. He said that by doing so, they were preserving rural areas, as Ms.
Firehock had pointed out. He said that this parcel was indeed located within the Development
Area, although it was on the outskirts. He said that when he considered the challenges of
maximizing density in the Development Area, he also acknowledged that not all of the
Development Area was created equal.

Mr. Missel said that when considering a mixed-use project like this, which was good on its own, it
would be well-suited for an area with greater density, interconnected streets, and the ability to
connect to the surrounding area. He said that this subject parcel did not seem like the right place
for it. He said that it certainly was within the Development Area and should be maximized, but it
was isolated and felt like the interconnections would never happen, or if they did, it would be a
long time from now.

Mr. Missel said that this road was part of his everyday commute, and he would acknowledge that
it was mind-numbingly terrible and seemed to bring out the worst in people. He said that he started
thinking about the threshold with 1-64, and then with 5th Street there were all these connections
and development accessible through the overpass. He said that the same could be said for Avon

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 19
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Street. He said that there were ways to cross that threshold, and this area was unique in that it
was cut off from town. He said that someone had commented that it was integrated, but in his
opinion, it was isolated.

Mr. Missel said that when looking at the build-out analysis, which showed that there were over
11,000 residential units in the pipeline, with around 3,000 applications moving forward. He said
that there were a lot of residential units that would be brought forward soon but had not yet been
built. He said that this had led him to feel that they should prioritize affordable housing more
intensely, rather than as something that would be integrated in future years. He said that he
believed that as a County, they had the opportunity to leverage this issue and push for more
affordable housing options in the development community.

Mr. Missel said that he often felt that they found themselves in a reactive position, rather than
being proactive. He said that this proposal seemed like they were pushing it forward with the hope
that everything else would fall into place afterwards. He said that there seemed to be a
presumption that they would get the schools, the transportation system would be developed, and
the transportation would get fixed because there would be this increased pressure from this
development's impact.

Mr. Missel said that it was essential that they think ahead and create spaces for people to live
safely, and that they have the necessary infrastructure in place to support that. He said that this
was a responsibility shared by the VDOT, the County, and not solely the developers, in many
cases. He said that this was merely a general observation. He said that the realities of Smart
Scale funding must be acknowledged. He said that he believed that only one project for Albemarle
was going to be funded in the upcoming Smart Scale round. He said that the funding was just not
there to solve these issues.

Mr. Missel said that he would reiterate that not all areas of the Development Area were created
equal. He said that they needed to think about appropriate land uses, not just about maximizing
density. He said that in his opinion, they should be proactive, rather than reactive, in their
approach to development. He said that he believed that this proposal was not a harmonious use
of the Development Area.

Mr. Missel said that he was not suggesting that they should not develop here, but rather that it
was not the right or harmonious use. He said that finally, he had concerns about the uncertainties
surrounding this project, including traffic, impacts, phasing, affordability, and the pedestrian
crosswalk. He said that these concerns had led him to conclude that this was not the appropriate
development for this space. He said that he would continue to support development in the
Development Area, but this specific proposal was a bit of a stretch.

Ms. Firehock said that after hearing Mr. Murray's comment about Smart Scale and reviewing
these types of projects, she had even less faith, which was difficult to imagine, in VDOT's ability
to solve this issue in the County. She said that the project, although close in, was also quite
problematic. She said that the developer had reduced the units by half, but it still contributed to
an already severe traffic problem.

Mr. Bivins said that he believed Mr. Missel's comments supported the idea of softer edges around
the Development Area. He said that this piece of property had the same value for development
as a piece in Fashion Square. He said that perhaps there would be a future opportunity for there
to be a transitional area between the Development Area and Rural Area, but currently it was hard
edges. He said that with their approach of using gross density within the Development Area, the
zoning allowed each parcel the same ability as a function of the land.

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 20
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



Mr. Bivins said that the argument he was hearing from most of his colleagues was that there
needed to be a transitional area between the land uses, which would acknowledge that there
were some areas that would not have the same amenities or development expectations as those
in the center of the Development Area. He said that however, the variations in parcel features
were not acknowledged in their development footprint. He said that they treated each parcel the
same even though that was not what happened.

Mr. Missel said that the Comprehensive Plan also helped to guide that and put some structure to
it. He said that as the Planning Commission was tasked with evaluating the appropriateness of
land uses and recommending approval or denial to the Board of Supervisors, they had to consider
all factors, not just the location within the boundary of the Development Area. He said that they
had to actually think about what was appropriate.

Mr. Missel said that this acted as a filter, evaluating developments before they were approved.
What they had seen most often they was residential development in areas where there was
already a significant amount of residential development, often with interconnections and other
supporting factors.

Mr. Carrazana said that he would suggest that the location was appropriate due to its proximity
to key resources like the University, Fontaine Avenue, and those nearby developments. He said
that considering the context of what was coming to the County, he believed that this location was
positioned quite well for development. He said that however, they all recognized the challenge of
being car-centric, and even getting cars to this location was challenging due to the poor condition
of Route 29. He said that this was a common challenge in many developments where they lacked
the infrastructure to support the development.

Mr. Carrazana said that in this case, he believed that the location was actually appropriate. He
said that it was nearby the highway and the developers had done a good job addressing
topography issues. He said that the main issue here was the road, and that was where they
needed to develop partnerships. He said that if they were only relying on Smart Scale, they would
never get there.

Mr. Carrazana said that currently, the County was at a crossroads, with a potential $10-12 billion
investment in the area, and this was just the beginning. He said that if they had anchor companies
like AstraZeneca, Eli Lilly, and Merck, which were already investing in the region, they would need
housing. He said that this proposal presented an opportunity in relation to that, and they did not
have many opportunities like this in the County. He said that it was a question of how they could
leverage partnerships to provide the necessary infrastructure, which in this case was safer roads.

Mr. Moore said that he agreed that it was appropriate. He said that when considering the location
of this facility, one only needed to travel one highway exit to the east and there was a similar
development pattern. He said that going down Fifth Street and Old Lynchburg Road, there was a
commercial plot that still needed some commercial clients to build there, as well as a mix of
commercial and residential developments, including the Fifth Street Place and the Five Row
Apartments. He said that these areas were fairly densely residential all on the same side of the
road.

Mr. Moore said that those homes were not well-connected with bike and pedestrian paths, making
it difficult for residents to access the rest of the City. He said that there was the bridge crossing I-
64, and it was difficult and was a known issue they were trying to resolve. He said that people
used cars. He said that he understood they wanted better connections, but he wanted to build for
their aspirations and then adjust and improve them over time, using their tax investments to make
it a great place, rather than not developing space right by the highway that people could use. He

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 21
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



said that he thought the parallel of development along Fifth Street right next door was important
to consider.

Mr. Murray said that one positive aspect of this was that having more commercial space could
generate extra tax revenue, which could be used to improve their roads. He said that he was glad
that the applicant had given a commitment to commercial space and hoped that they would stick
to it.

Mr. Carrazana motioned that the Planning Commission recommend approval of ZMA202200002
Sieg Property Rezoning. Mr. Clayborne seconded the motion.

Ms. Firehock said that she was still concerned about the pedestrian crossing along Route 29. She
said that she understood they could not modify the application, but she would like to know if there
was a way they could signal that it was not a good idea or if it would just be included in the
minutes.

Mr. Bivins said that he believed it would likely just be reflected in the minutes. He said that he
understood Ms. Firehock's concerns but did not have those same reservations and would not
support that. He said that he thought they needed to put in that infrastructure and people would
figure out how to use it if it was there.

Mr. Carrazana said that he hoped that they could utilize the minutes to inform the future
discussions and a more detailed traffic evaluation and recommendation as to what to do.

Ms. Firehock said that she did not believe that VDOT would allow that pedestrian crossing to be
constructed there so she acknowledged that the crossing was a moot point because it would
never be built.

Mr. Missel called the vote on the motion to recommend approval of ZMA202200002 Sieg Property
Rezoning.

The motion carried (5-2). (Moore, Bivins, Murray, Clayborne, and Carrazana voted aye; Firehock,
and Missel voted nay)

Adjournment

At 9:55 p.m., the Commission adjourned to January 13, 2026, Albemarle County Planning

Commission meeting, 6:00 p.m.
7. - \ / # o
/z.s%,/@&ﬁj

Michael Barnes, Director of Planning

(Recorded by Carolyn S. Shaffer, Clerk to Planning Commission & Planning Boards; transcribed
by Golden Transcription Services)

Approved by Planning
Commission

Date: 01/13/2026
Initials: CSS

ALBEMARLE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 22
Final Minutes - December 16, 2025



